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Thursday, March 12, 2009

--- On commencing at 9:06 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

The Board is sitting today in connection with an application filed by PowerStream Inc. on October 10th, 2008 under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act with respect to approval of rates effective May 1st, 2009 for electricity distribution in its jurisdiction or territory.

The Board issued a procedural order on March 3rd with respect to this matter setting down a date for an issues conference on the proposed issues.

We understand that went forward as planned and the parties have agreed on a proposed issues list, subject to certain submissions that they wish to make with respect to the preamble, which, as we understand it, relates to the scope of evidence that's producible by the applicant with respect to the different issues.

May we have the appearances, please?
Appearances:


MS. NEWLAND:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Board Members.  Helen Newland for PowerStream.  With me today is Mr. Glicksman, Mr. MacDonald and Mr. Betts.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Jay Shepherd, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.

Mr. Buonaguro, are you here?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition, and I would also like to put in an appearance for Robert Warren on behalf of the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. KAISER:  Is Mr. Warren coming?

MR. BUONAGURO:  No, not today.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MS. YAMPLOSKY:  Elena Yampolsky, PowerStream.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MS. PETRUCCI:  Dianne Petrucci, PowerStream.

MR. BARRETT:  Tom Barrett, PowerStream.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Maureen Helt, Board counsel, and with me is Harold Thiessen, Board Staff.

MR. KAISER:  Ms. Helt, how do you want to proceed?

MS. HELT:  I believe it would be appropriate, at this time, just to start right away with the submissions with respect to the preamble, and if we proceed first with the applicant, PowerStream, and then to hear reply submissions.

MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.  Ms. Newland.
POWERSTREAM INC.

Submissions by Ms. Newland:

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.

Mr. Chairman, Board Members, while it is true that the parties to this proceeding, including PowerStream, agreed on a list of issues, it is also true that the parties recognize that differences of opinion may arise, as we progress in this proceeding, about the scope of these issues or at least the scope of certain issues.  And although disagreements of this kind are not uncommon, we believe that the general wording of the preamble to the list of issues in particular, which we also agreed to, may give rise to varying interpretations and expectations among the parties.

The Board and intervenors are entitled to know from the outset how the preamble informs PowerStream's interpretation of the scope of this proceeding, and what, in our view, is on the table and what is not.

As a corollary to this, PowerStream would like to be absolutely clear about what it can deliver and what it cannot deliver in response to interrogatories that it may receive from intervenors, particularly on the issue of the merger with Barrie Hydro.

My submissions today are going to be in four parts.  First, I want to review the Board's decision of December 15th, 2008 on the application of the PowerStream and Barrie Hydro for orders approving the amalgamation of the two utilities and certain other relief.

I will refer to that as the MAAD decision, with no disrespect intended.

The second part of my submissions will concern the -- describe PowerStream's concerns of principle and practicality that we have with respect to the MAADs decision.


Thirdly, I will describe what our response to the decision has been in relation to the application in light of these concerns.

Fourthly and finally, I will ask the Board to clarify what I refer to as the rules of the game in relation to the preamble so that we can avoid or at least minimize future disputes and motions.  We think that this clarification would contribute to an efficient and effective proceeding.

Now, I want to stress at the outset and in the strongest possible terms that PowerStream ask not asking the Board to review or to change any aspect of the MAAD decision.  That time for that review has come and gone, and we are not going down that path, not at all.


But we feel very strongly that the Board and intervenors need to understand that certain parts of the decision have created some very, very difficult issues for us and these, in turn, have implications for how we interpret our obligations under the preamble.

I also want to make it clear that we intend to respect the preamble, but we bring our own perspective to it, and people should know what that is today.

I have provided the Board Members and Board Staff and parties with an argument or a submission booklet.  It has four tabs.  The first is simply a table that sets out some critical dates in the life of PowerStream.  I am not going to specifically relate to the table, but I thought it would be helpful, because there are many dates that are significant and it kind of describes our story from the date of our creation in June 2004 to where we find ourselves now.

The second tab is excerpts from the MAAD decision and as well as follow-up responses to questions from various counsel.

The third tab is something I will refer to briefly in my remarks and it just describes what we refer to as the merger integration structure.

Finally, the fourth tab is a list of -- a summary of the points we are seeking confirmation on today, the rules of the game as I refer to them.

I thought I would distribute these in written form, just so that parties would not have to scribble them down as I spoke.

MS. HELT:  Perhaps at this time we could have this marked as an exhibit.

MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Let's also mark the proposed issues list.

MS. HELT:  All right.  If we could mark the proposed issues list as Exhibit Issues Day 1.1.
Exhibit No. ID1.1:  Proposed issues list.

MS. HELT:  And we will have the submission booklet submitted by the applicant as Issues Day 1.2.
Exhibit No. ID1.2:  Submission booklet submitted by the applicant.

MR. KAISER:  Ms. Newland, remind me.  I am just looking at your tab 2 and the responses to Mr. Vegh's questions.  Who was Mr. Vegh acting for at that time?

MS. NEWLAND:  He was acting for Barrie Hydro.

MR. KAISER:  Right.  That's what I thought.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, just before Ms. Newland continues, the Board should be aware that intervenors didn't see this until this morning, and the prayer for relief in tab 4, which appears -- looks to me like it is a motion to -- for the Board to give some orders -- is something that we have not seen before.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, if you need further time, we will consider that request, but let's let the applicant proceed and see if we need to -- if we need an adjournment, we will adjourn.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We did not expect, Mr. Chairman, we were going to have to debate the scope of the hearing this morning.  We thought we agreed on Monday.

MR. KAISER:  We will find out, I guess, but I thought they agreed on the scope.  It was just a question of what evidence relates to the scope or what evidence they can produce, in a practical sense, whether it is producible or not, in principle.  As I understand it, part of the issue is whether you even have it.

MS. NEWLAND:  That's right, that's right.  I will address that issue, Mr. Chairman.  I won't be no more than 15 or 20 minutes.  My submissions are brief.

So let me begin with the MAAD decision of December 15th.  In that decision, the Board of course approves the amalgamation, as well as the rate rebasing schedule that had been proposed by the applicants.

Under the schedule, the amalgamated entity - and I will refer to that in my remarks as mergeco - may defer rebasing for up to five years from the date of the closing of the amalgamation transaction which occurred on December 31st, 2008.

This deferral was proposed by the applicants in order to allow mergeco to have the benefit of a longer period in which to offset transaction costs with efficiency savings.

This objective reflects the underlying intent of the Board's rate-making policy on distributor consolidation, as was set out in your July 2007 consolidation report, and, in fact, this articulation of our objective is a direct quote from the report.  And presumably you, the Board, approved this -- the deferral of mergeco rebasing for the same reasons, to be consistent with the policy to allow mergeco time to recoup merger-related savings --or merger-related costs by retaining merger-related savings for a reasonable period of time.

As part of the approval of the rebasing schedule, the Board also agreed that the rates of the Barrie Hydro rate zone, which were rebased in 2008, would be adjusted in accordance with the Board's third generation IR mechanism effective May 1st, 2009, and I believe the decision approving that new rates, based on third generation, was issued yesterday.  It's posted on the Board's website.

The approval of the schedule also meant that the rates of the PowerStream rate zone would be rebased in 2009, effective May 1st, 2009, and that's the cost of service application that is the subject of this proceeding.

The Board also agreed with the proposal to harmonize distribution rates between the two rate zones, between the Barrie rate zone and the PowerStream rate zone, within three to five years from the date of closing of the transaction, the amalgamation transaction, but before the time of mergeco's rate rebasing.


Up until the time that we harmonize, two separate rate zones will be maintained for customers in each rate zone, and this approach is pretty much identical to the approach that the Board approved in connection with the harmonization of rates across the four former PowerStream rate zones of Richmond Hill, Aurora, Markham and Vaughan.


And, Mr. Vlahos, I believe you were a member who sat on our harmonization application and you would be familiar with the approach that we are now proposing for the two new divisions of PowerStream -- formerly PowerStream.

For all of these approvals and authorizations, PowerStream has asked me to say to you, today, that it is truly grateful and it wishes to thank the Board.  Your decision on the merger will allow merger-related transition activities to proceed in an orderly fashion, and, in particular, the decision to allow PowerStream to rebase on a stand-alone basis will allow -- ensure that the PowerStream rate zone will, by 2010, be on the same playing field, the same third generation playing field, as the Barrie Hydro rate zone.  So moving forward, everything will be on the same playing field, and that was important to us.

Now we get to the single aspect of the MAAD decision that, with the greatest respect, has caused us and continues to cause us considerable concern.  And I refer here to the caveat that the Board attached to its approval of the rate rebasing proposal.

If you could turn to tab 2 of the argument book, you could just refer to the caveat, as I read along, from the second paragraph on the first page of tab 2, "Notwithstanding our concern", and this is a quote from transcript page 198, it's part of the decision of the Board:
"Notwithstanding our concern, the Board is prepared to approve the rate rebasing proposal advanced by the applicants in this case, provided it is understood that in the cost of service hearing parties will be free to introduce evidence that the costs, as filed, may not be the real costs and may not reflect actual costs.  Parties may, in fact, take advantage of certain evidence introduced in this proceeding regarding cost reductions not revealed in the application as originally filed."

It is this aspect of the MAAD decision that led PowerStream, in late December 2008, to ask the Board for time to consider the implications on the rate application that we had filed in October.

We took several weeks to do this, because we had real difficulty reconciling the decision to allow mergeco to defer rebasing and recoup transition costs on the one hand, with a decision to put 2009 merger benefits and costs on the table in this application on the other hand.

It appeared to us the unintended consequence of this aspect of your decision was to allow vagaries related to the timing of PowerStream's cost of service application relative to the decision to merge PowerStream and Barrie Hydro to trump the principles articulated in the consolidation report.

Those principles are -- the most important of these principles are the need for more predictable regulatory environment for distributors that are considering consolidation, and the need to allow a consolidated entity an opportunity to offset transaction and transition costs by retaining achieved savings for a sufficient period of time.

PowerStream and Barrie Hydro made their merger decision on the basis of these principles.  The valuation of their companies that underpin the merger negotiations were based on these principles.


PowerStream expects to continue to be a leader on the merger front in Ontario as we move forward.  Adherence to the consolidation report principles is, in our view, absolutely critical in order to give the distributor community the confidence it requires to pursue consolidations in accordance with the objectives of the Government of Ontario.

Forcing distributors to choose between proceeding with a merger and proceeding with a cost of service application will put a chill on merger activity in the distribution sector.

MR. KAISER:  Ms. Newland, aren't you simply rearguing what we heard before?  This was Mr. Vegh's argument, and --

MS. NEWLAND:  I will move on, Mr. Chairman.  I would like to move on to the practical concerns we have with your decision and the request we have for some guidance in that regard.

MR. KAISER:  Go ahead.

MS. NEWLAND:  Our practical concerns have to do with whether it's possible to respect the Board's decision regarding 2009 merger costs and benefits from our perspective.  First of all, we need to remember that the final merger negotiations with Barrie Hydro did not commence in earnest until May 2008, and even then the road was bumpy with many stops and starts and the outcome was never certain.  Barrie Hydro shareholders did not approve the merger until October 2008.

So in light of that time table -- at the same time that we were speaking with Barrie Hydro and the negotiations had started in February or March of 2008, we were well on the road to preparing our cost of service application for PowerStream.

We had no idea how or whether or where the negotiations with Barrie Hydro would end.

So in light of all of this background, it is unrealistic to expect that less than three months after the approval of the amalgamation by the Board we - PowerStream, mergeco - would have developed an operation plan for the merged entity which, in turn, could form the basis of an integrated bottom-up mergeco budget.

At this point in time, there is no such integrated operation plan.  There is no integrated mergeco budget.  It just doesn't exist.  In fact, the reality is that in 2009, PowerStream and -- the PowerStream division, if I may refer to it, and the Barrie Hydro division of mergeco will, for the most part, operate independently and separately in accordance with their pre-merger operation plans and budgets.

So, really, 2009 will be a year of taking stock, making plans, driving transitional activities.

MR. KAISER:  Well, if that's the case, Ms. Newland, how is it that your client was able to say, when we first heard this - this is at page 190 of the decision - that the -- I'm quoting:
"The applicants have also stated that the projected cost savings by amalgamating the two distributors will be in the range of $5 million to $5.5 million per year."

Is that not based on some forecast or budget of the amalgamated corporation?


MS. NEWLAND:  I will get to that, sir, but the short answer to your question is, it is based on a business plan proposal that was developed in order to give Barrie Hydro and PowerStream's boards of directors and shareholders a level of confidence on the magnitude of savings that we thought were reasonable.


So those were business plan high-level estimates.  They weren't the kind of estimates that we would feel confident about putting forward base rates on.  They weren't developed for ratemaking purposes, they were developed for a totally different purpose.  And those were the numbers -- we were very clear in that in the MAADs application, those were the numbers that we gave to the Board in the MAADs application and of course you have to remember that in the MAADs application we weren't talking about rates.


We were talking about the no harm test to -- the threshold we had to meet was the no harm test to ratepayers.


MR. KAISER:  Well certainly one part of the no harm test is any impact on rates.

MS. NEWLAND:  That's right.  And we stand by that evidence.  In fact, as I move forward in my submissions, you will hear me tell you that our -- that the best information we have now is that if we were to amend our application to reflect the net picture of costs and savings in the first year, rates would go up.


So we have chosen not to touch our application which is entirely consistent with what we said --

MR. KAISER:  Are saying if you were filing a MAADs application today you would not be saying the cost savings of the amalgamated two distributors would be in the range of 5 million to 5.5 million?

MS. NEWLAND:  No, sir.  We're still saying that.  In fact, what we did on -- we amended our application in February, and at that time we updated our load forecast.  But we also put information in the application that reflected our evidence in the MAADs proceeding and mirrored it and said that we will have savings in the first year and we will have costs.  We're just not amending our application to amend our revenue requirement in the cost of service proceeding to reflect those.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.


I just want to correct something that you said earlier, Mr. Chair.


In the first year of the five-year period, the savings will actually be 1.9 million, not $5 million.  I believe that was our evidence.


MR. KAISER:  That was your evidence in the MAADs application?


MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Where is that?  Can you give me the reference?


MS. NEWLAND:  I will continue with my submissions and I will have someone look for that.


MR. KAISER:  I don't need it right now.


MS. NEWLAND:  Yes.  We will find that.


Just getting back to explaining what the picture is going to look like in the utility as we go forward in 2009.


There are many uncertainties in our landscape that we're going to have to resolve in 2009 before we can even turn our mind to developing an integrated operational plan or an integrated budget.  I would like to give you the most, I think the most obvious example is what is going to happen with our labour force, because as you will see in our application, that $1.9 million of savings, 64 percent of that comprises labour costs or labour savings.


The point of me telling you is this, is that that 1.9 is a high level estimate, and it is the high-level estimate because we have yet to start negotiations with our union.  Mr. Glicksman referred to that in his testimony in the MAADs proceeding.


The first thing that is going to happen is that the unionized employees at mergeco will have to choose between the IBEW, which is the PowerStream union and the PWU which is the Barry Union.  Then when they have done that we will start negotiations with whatever entity they choose and those negotiations will be with respect to salary, benefits, and working conditions.  These all have yet to be negotiated.  We don't know where we are going to land on those issues, although we're going to be obviously working very diligently to manage our costs.  Our experience would suggest that salaries and benefits are unlikely to be reduced to the lowest common denominator.  So if we had a vice president at Barrie and a vice president at PowerStream and the vice president PowerStream was making more than the vice president at Barrie, I don't think the vice is going to happen that salary for that position is going to go down.  It is more likely to go up.


MR. KAISER:  But even if that is the case, isn't all of this something that would be tested in the rate case and not here by on some theoretical basis?


I mean that may on an evidentiary basis turn out to be the case.  Do we have to make a judgment today as to what those cost savings will be?


MS. NEWLAND:  No.  Well, you -- first of all, I believe we're talking about this rate case.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  And these salary negotiations are not likely to be concluded until after we hope to be concluded this rate case.  So that is one of our problems.

MR. KAISER:  I understand all of that.  But why do we have to hear about that today?  Why isn't that just part of your case, if somebody asks you questions on the labour costs of the mergeco, your witnesses can make that point at that time.


MS. NEWLAND:  Yes.  And we will.


The point I am trying to make, and perhaps not very well, is that we don't have an integrated operation plan yet and we don't have a mergeco bottoms-up budget that we would normally feel confident about putting forward for ratemaking purposes.  We don't.


I was just trying to explain why we don't because we have all of these things that have to happen before we start the process of developing a budget.


MR. KAISER:  That may be the case.


MS. NEWLAND:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. KAISER:  But I thought the issue here was, can the intervenors, Mr. Shepherd and whoever else, ask you to produce information with respect to the costs in the test period of mergeco or the independent entities?


What the quality of your response or your ability to respond is something we can deal with, but I thought we were dealing with the first question, as to whether you should produce it.


You are not asking us to make a ruling today on whether you can produce it or can't produce it, are you?


MS. NEWLAND:  No.

MR. KAISER:  Or are you?  I don't know.


MS. NEWLAND:  Well, I mean that's a good question.

MR. KAISER:  I am trying to figure out what you are asking us to do.  I thought the question was the scope -- I am going to call it the interrogatories but it could be the scope of the cross-examination in the case.


MS. NEWLAND:  Our concern was really from comments and our discussion with intervenors on the issues conference.  It seemed to us that their expectation of what we could provide was quite different than what we knew we could provide.


I think we felt that the -- and I am not trying to put words in intervenors’ mouths, and if I am mischaracterizing this then I would be glad to hear it, but we felt their view was, You guys are in a cost-of-service hearing.  You know what the cost of service kind of information that is required, you know.  You know that we expect forecasts.  We're going to ask for consolidated budget and if you can't do it, too bad.  Well, we can't do it and we don't want people to accuse us of not respecting our obligation under the preamble.  We agreed to that preamble, and our agreement really is to give you the best we can but you should know that the best we can is not what we would normally -- what parties, including us, would expect to normally receive in a rate proceeding.


That issue came up in issues day and I think that is or issues conference, and that's, I think, Board counsel and other parties agree that we should just have a fully -- airing of that concern today.


We are not asking you, Mr. Chair, to bless the quality of our evidence.  You will hear from me at the end of the day that our evidence supports a finding of just and reasonable rates.


I mean obviously just and reasonable rates fall within -- as long as they fall within a reasonable zone of reasonableness, then you are able to approve them.


It is our burden of proof to convince you of that.  So we are not asking you to bless our evidence in advance, but we are asking everyone including the Board to understand the limitations that we have as we go forward.

MR. KAISER:  Well, and you wouldn't expect us to bless the evidence --

MS. NEWLAND:  No.

MR. KAISER:  -- in any shape or form until, A, we heard the evidence; and B, we’d heard cross-examination of the witnesses with respect to that evidence.


MS. NEWLAND:  True.

MR. KAISER:  And explanations from your witnesses as to why you can't produce certain information.  We would hear all of that in due course and make whatever rulings are necessary.  I am still not understanding -- I mean, we appreciate the early advice that you may have problems producing some evidence that the intervenors want, but can we go much further than that?  We're going to have to look at the specific questions and the circumstances and relate to that and why they think it is important, and your inability to produce it and all of that good stuff.


I am just trying to figure out what you are asking us to say today.


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Newland, is the purpose of, so far what you said, to pre-empt a motion that may be coming forward if the parties were to ask the utility to produce consolidated plans, consolidated operating plans?  And your answer would be, no, we don't have such thing.  Is your concern that this may be to a motion therefore to perhaps delay the proceeding?  Is that what this is about?


MS. NEWLAND:  That was certainly part of our concern coming out of issues conference.

MR. VLAHOS:  What is the other part?

MS. NEWLAND:  Well, I guess maybe it is – well, the other part is, it is easy to agree on words when everybody has their own interpretation of what those words mean.  And we didn't want anyone accusing us, after the fact, of saying:  Well, you agreed at issue use conference that you would do this and now you are saying you are not doing it.


So that's also, that was part of our objective.


MR. KAISER:  Let's deal with that.  You don't want to be -- you are trying to protect the interests of your clients because you don't want the intervenors to be in a position to say:  No, we agreed to produce this or that.  We didn't agree to produce this or that.  We agreed these are the issues, we did not agree whether evidence, relating to those issues, that you may wish, is necessarily available.


MS. NEWLAND:  Correct.

MR. KAISER:  Am I correctly stating it?


MS. NEWLAND:  You are.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  So we have stated the issue.


Whether the Board would accept that proposition that the evidence is not available, I mean we would have to hear from some witnesses, I would think.


MS. NEWLAND:  Well, I mean you will ultimately hear from witnesses and those questions would be perfectly proper.  I mean, we would be asked interrogatories and we would respond as we saw fit and as we were able, and then we would be putting witnesses up to speak to those answers, those responses to interrogatories, and certainly those questions could be put to those witnesses.  So, yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Your concern is before getting to the testing of the evidence, your concern is that before we get to the testing of the evidence that you try to avoid any motions from the parties?


MS. NEWLAND:  That's correct.

MR. VLAHOS:  By explaining to the Board there is no such thing as a consolidated operating plan and if there are any questions to that effect then your answer will have to be:  There is no such thing.  Period.


MS. NEWLAND:  That's correct.

MR. VLAHOS:  That's what you want the Board to understand?


MS. NEWLAND:  That's correct.

MR. VLAHOS:  So if we understand that, then is there a decision point here, I am still not clear as to what the expectation is.


MS. NEWLAND:  I am not sure there is a decision point.


We asked ourself that question.


Mr. Shepherd characterizes the points at tab 4 of the argument booklet as a motion without notice.  Really, it is not.


I mean, it would be wonderful if you were to agree in advance of each and every one of these points, but it is more or less asking you to acknowledge that, you know, we have made these submissions and people understand what the limitations are.  So --

MR. KAISER:  To me, it looks like a pre-emptive strike of responding to a motion that we haven't even received.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.


MR. KAISER:  If Mr. Vlahos is right and you have answered him, you expect that they will ask questions and you will respond, and they won't be happy with the response and there will be a motion.  And we understand all of that.  We understand the issue.  We understand the issue -- we knew this was going to be an issue when we issued that decision.


None of this is a surprise.  We appreciate the early advice there may be difficulties producing evidence because it isn't available, but I am at a loss as to what we can do in this proceeding outside of acknowledging that concern that you have, but Mr. Shepherd or whoever, they're always entitled to bring a motion.  They're always entitled to make their interrogatories and no doubt in due course they will and look at the answers and see whether they're happy.  As in any other case, if they're not happy, they’ll be back here.

So I just don't know what we're doing dealing with a preliminary motion.  Or what it is you want us to say outside of hear you and acknowledge what your response is likely to be, depending on what the specific questions from the intervenors are.


MS. NEWLAND:  I recognize your conundrum and I don't think we are asking the Board it make any rulings today.


MR. KAISER:  Okay.


MS. NEWLAND:  Actually, when we discussed the necessity of having -- proceeding with an issues day, I think there was recognition at least amongst our camp, that it was really more to describe our position and describe the limitations that we would be faced with, as opposed to asking for any particular relief.


MR. KAISER:  Now, there is one issue that you might be entitled to an answer to and I don't know.  I am jumping to your prayer for relief, as Mr. Shepherd styles it, number 1.  You want a ruling, I take it, that the merger-related cost and savings attributed to Barrie Hydro are not within the scope of this proceeding.


Barrie Hydro was a bit different than PowerStream, they were under IRM.


MS. NEWLAND:  Well --

MR. KAISER:  And are under IRM.


MS. NEWLAND:  They will be.  Well, it depends how you define IRM.  They're on cost-of-service right now.  They were rebased in 2008 and then they switched to third generation IRM May 1st, yes.


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MS. NEWLAND:  So we think Barrie Hydro is out of scope.


MR. KAISER:  Right.  So I understand that.  And that's not something we dealt with in the decision.


MS. NEWLAND:  No.

MR. KAISER:  We did not deal with that issue.

MS. NEWLAND:  No, you did not.

MR. KAISER:  It wasn't actually before us.  Nobody asked us to rule on it.  Are you asking us to make a preliminary ruling on is that point now?


MS. NEWLAND:  Well yes, I am, sir.

MR. KAISER:  We want to be fair to you.  Mr. Vlahos and I may have badgered you to go home and say that we didn't have to make a ruling and we don't mean to do that.

MS. NEWLAND:  No.  I don't feel badgered, but I think it is important to understand -- and I don't want to, again, put words in intervenors' mouths, but some of the questions and some the comments that we heard from intervenors on issues day suggested that, indeed, they felt that your ruling on the MAADs decision gave them scope to ask questions about Barrie Hydro's cost and savings attributed to them.


We are very, very concerned that we're going to be fighting not only our own rate case but undoing Board decisions from past days.


I am sure Mr. Shepherd will speak to this, but definitely this whole idea of sort of having our rate case spin out of control into the whole, into the Barrie Hydro rate zone and then the costs and benefits that will be realized by Barrie Hydro coming into this hearing is a big concern to us.


May I just have one minute?


MR. KAISER:  Certainly.  Why don't we take a break, Ms. Newland.  We will take 15 minutes.

MS. NEWLAND:  Fifteen minutes, okay, thanks, sir.


--- Recess taken at 9:45 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 10:03 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

Ms. Newland.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I am pretty much ready to wrap up.  I did want to address your question before the break regarding the savings in year 1.  In the MAAD proceeding, in the transcript, the transcript 74...

Thank you.  In the MAAD proceeding, the number 1.88 million was actually filed on a confidential basis in response to a question that came up during the proceeding.  So I can't actually point you to a document right now, other than to refer you to that document that was filed in confidence.

I can refer you to a statement by my friend, Mr. Shepherd, at transcript 74, where he is responding to -- in the course of his cross-examination, he said, "My understanding is he", and the references to "he" is Mr. Glicksman:
"... he was just saying that there is about 1.8 million in the first year of savings, but we haven't got the document that says that."

Then we subsequently provided the document.

Just to follow that trail through, in February, when we amended our application to update the load forecast, we did provide a couple of pages that set out, at a higher level than had been provided in the confidential document, those numbers.

So that 1.88 million is now on the record in Exhibit A2, tab 3, schedule 1, page 3 of 3.  There is a table that shows merger O&M savings and transition costs.

MR. KAISER:  Is that confidential or not confidential?

MS. NEWLAND:  No, it is not.

MR. KAISER:  Let's make that an exhibit in this proceeding.  It deals with the earlier --

MS. NEWLAND:  It is an exhibit in this proceeding, because this is an excerpt from our application.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  I meant in this motion.

MS. NEWLAND:  In this motion, yes.

MR. KAISER:  Whatever we call what we're doing today.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  Actually, would it be helpful if we just had copies made?

MR. KAISER:  Yes.  I don't think we need to see it right now.

MS. NEWLAND:  So that clears up that issue.  So we're talking about, from our perspective -- and I know that intervenors will have a different perspective, but in terms of what we're arguing about today, we're talking about 1.8 million of savings, and then against that you would have to allocate a certain amount of transition costs to drive those savings out in 2009.

So that gets us down to a negative net savings, and that explains why we decided we were not going to amend our application to ask that the revenue requirement be increased to reflect that.  We just let it lay where it was.

With that, I think I would like to conclude, sir.

As I said earlier, it will be our job to convince you at the end of the day that our rates that we are applying for are just and reasonable, that they fall within the zone of reasonableness and that you can so find, and we will be certainly doing that.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you very much.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd, it seemed in the end there is not much to argue about.

MS. NEWLAND:  Well...

MR. KAISER:  Or is there?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think that is true.

Mr. Chairman, I think that if we look at the company's tab 4, the first three items on it, it appears to us that the company is, in fact, asking you to make a decision today about the scope of the proceeding.  I could be mistaken, but that is my understanding.

MR. KAISER:  Let's deal with that, because I thought, from what I just heard from Ms. Newland, that she wasn't asking for any ruling today with respect to any of those.  Am I right?

MS. NEWLAND:  That's right.  What we are saying is our interpretation of the preamble would be -- reflects -- our understanding of the preamble is reflected in those three tabs, among other things.  So that is how we will approach it.

MR. KAISER:  So let's say, just to shorten things, Mr. Shepherd says, Well, that is not our interpretation.  Let's suppose he says that.

Where are we then?  We will hear your evidence and we will deal with it on a case-by-case basis and on the basis of what the witnesses say.  Isn't that what we always do in this little life we lead?  Isn't it?  You are prepared to proceed on that basis?

MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, we are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  With respect, Mr. Chairman, I don't think we agree.

The first -- the last three items are evidentiary issues:  What evidence can they produce?  We agree with you 100 percent that those are items that come up during the course of the proceeding.

The first three items are:  What is in scope and out of scope in the proceeding?  That is precisely what issues day is about.

So if we have a disagreement about what is in scope and out of scope in the proceeding, then this is the day we're supposed to deal with that, it seems to me.

MR. KAISER:  Well, the only problem with that, and just consider this, we can proceed that way, if both of you want to proceed that way and you want a decision on that today.

Ordinarily, when you get into these types of things, there is a certain amount of evidence that is necessary to make a ruling, and, generally speaking, the Board likes to hear from an actual witness as opposed to counsel, because there are evidentiary pieces of these things that often -- I mean, they're not simple legal -- simple questions.

So we were hoping we could leave it to the evidentiary portion of the case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What we are concerned with, I think, is that this would then end up being a running battle throughout the proceeding with everything being fought and resisted.  Whereas I think that, in fact, it may be that we're very close on the scope of those three items, that we are actually -- that the level of disagreement is not as far as it appears from this document.

I wonder if it would be useful if I just spent five minutes and indicate what we certainly understand to be the meaning of those three items, because if we understand them the same way as Ms. Newland, then we save everybody a lot of time later on.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Let's hear from you with respect to the first three.
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  So with respect to the first item - that is, the merger-related costs and savings attributable to Barrie Hydro - we agree they are not in scope in this proceeding.  There are exceptions to that, but the exceptions are these.

If there are costs, merger-related costs, shared between the PowerStream and Barrie areas, or benefits shared between the Barrie and PowerStream areas, then whether they're allocated fairly between the two is in scope.  I am not sure that the company would disagree with that.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, let's find out.  What is your position with respect to Mr. Shepherd's response to your item number 1?

MS. NEWLAND:  We agree that the shared savings and shared costs have to be allocated both temporally and geographically.  People should be aware we haven't got a cost allocation methodology or cost allocation model for the merged entity, and we will have to do that on a very high level, such as like customer numbers or some reasonable allocator.  We don't know what that will be.  So we agree there is allocation.

I guess where I just want to make it clear is that that should not -- our position is that should not then lead us into a debate on the quantum of the amount that we're allocating to Barrie.

Well, no, I shouldn't --

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's exactly what I'm saying.

MS. NEWLAND:  The allocation is correct, but I guess our concern is:  Is that going to lead us into unbundling the Barrie -- the whole Barrie organization?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder -- if I could deal with the second one, I think that deals with the first one, with that issue.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  With the second one - that is, the cost of service of Barrie, basically - is that a legitimate enquiry in this proceeding?  The answer says -- PowerStream says no.  We agree.

MR. KAISER:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  However, we believe that all shared and common costs, whether they actually share them or they should be sharing them, and whether they're operating or capital costs, are in scope in this proceeding, because they're just like any other affiliate, in fact.  With an affiliate, you look at:  Are the costs being shared fairly?

So we, in fact, expect that our -- we thought it was going to be our first IR, but I think it will actually be our second IR.  I will tell you why in a second -- is going to be:  Please give of give us a chart of all of your expected distribution expenses for PowerStream and Barrie rate zones in the test year, and identify which ones are shared or common and the basis on which you're allocating them.

The answer, and to distinguish between the principle and the practicality, the answer may be, we can't provide that.  We don't have that information.  That's an issue of evidence.  But whether we're allowed to ask the question is an issue of principle and we believe we are allowed to ask the question.


So, and in that respect, we are not treating Barrie any differently from an affiliate.  So if that's agreed -- and so not to put too fine a point on it, we can't then argue, Well, Barrie's making a lot of money you should give less to PowerStream.  Whatever Barrie is making, they're in IRM.  That's out of scope.  So long as there being allocated fairly, they're off side. 


MR. KAISER:  I think PowerStream agrees with that.  Do you?


MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, we do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then the third item is PowerStream merger-related costs and savings that will be incurred and realized in years beyond 2009, and this could be -- we don't think PowerStream is proposing that they be treated differently than any other utility doing a cost-of-service application.


You could construe it one way that says, We're special, we want a special treatment, but I don't think that is what they intend.


I think that -- so for example whether costs and benefits of some particular activity are allocated to the right years, how non-recurring costs should be treated, like regulatory costs or anything that is a one-time cost in the rebasing year,  whether that should be spread out over the IRM period, these are all normal parts of a rebasing application, and whether those costs are merger costs or not is irrelevant.  Or, and whether those benefits are merger benefits is irrelevant.  They're costs or benefits in the test year that relate to the test year one way or another, and so they should be dealt with in the exactly the same way.  They should not be treated differently because they're merger-related.


So I think we may agree on that, too.


MR. KAISER:  Well, I am sure Ms. Newland agrees with that.  I mean there is always an issue of whether costs would be borne entirely within the test year or spread over some period.  That is an issue.  It depends on evidence, too.

MS. SPOEL:  Can I just clarify, Mr. Shepherd.  We're talking about costs and savings that will be incurred or realized.  Item 3 here says incurred or realized in years beyond 2009.


So what I hear you saying is that costs that are incurred in 2009, you would look at them as in any other proceeding and say well -- let's take regulatory costs as a simple example.  In other IRM cases, we have regulatory costs there is a four-year program.  We say we'll allocate over the, equally over the four years, nice and simple.  But those costs are incurred in 2009.


So you are not suggesting that we would look or I want to clarify, that you are talking about how you would allocate costs incurred in 2009, which I think is -- would appear to be within scope on the wording of this number 3.  But a cost that is going to be incurred in 2010 would be beyond the scope of this proceeding.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Typically the ratepayers wouldn't be raising a costs incurred in a subsequent year, because that would be to our disadvantage.


But to be fair, if the company had a cost -- for example, let's say there is going to be savings in 2009 from something and those savings come about because they make a commitment to make a cost in 2010, is there any reason why that wouldn't be legitimate?

MS. SPOEL:  I don't know.  I am trying to imagine where you get the savings before you spend the money, but... I am sure you will be able to think of something.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You’re saying theoretically.

MS. SPOEL:  I am just trying to clarify, though --

MR. SHEPHERD:  We wouldn't raise it.

MS. SPOEL:  -- you are talking about in general, when you say it is not relevant, whether it is merger related or in the merger related, that you are talking about how to spread out costs and savings incurred in 2009 as opposed to looking ahead to budgets for things that might be costs incurred or saved in subsequent years, to bring them somehow in 2009.


MR. SHEPHERD:  On the benefit side, that is not the case.  So for example if there is an expenditure -- if there's an expenditure in 2009 intended to deliver benefits in 2010, 2011, 2012, if that were a productivity expenditure, forget the merger.  If it is just a productivity expenditure, ratepayers would be free to argue, You are spending money on productivity and asking us to pay for it, but all of the benefits will go to you.  That's not reasonable.


And so that should be balanced.


MR. KAISER:  Let's use an actual example, one that is likely to arise in this case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. KAISER:  We have benefits over a five-year period, we heard what they are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  It turns out they're not five million in the first year, they're 1.88.  Those are the benefits.  But there are costs.


So if they took the entire costs of this merger and stuck them in the first year so that there was no savings, you would say:  Well, no, you should spread those over the same terms, the benefits i.e., the cost of the merger should match the benefit stream or something like that.  You want to be free to argue that and I doubt that PowerStream objects to that, do you?


MS. NEWLAND:  No.  Not at all.  What we are concerned about is, what we see as being on the table is 2009, we would rather it not be on the table in accordance with the consolidation report.  We have lost that battle.  It is on the table.  We can argue that you shouldn’t take it into account, but at least it’s open for inquiry.  We don't think that your ruling suggests that 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013 are on the table at all, other than how you have just described it.


MR. KAISER:  Fine.  Do you disagree with that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I think in general, Mr. Chairman, it is normal practice in a cost-of-service proceeding to ask for a multi-year plan and typically the Board orders that it be produced so that you get the context for the test --

MR. KAISER:  This is not a multi-year plan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  When you look at a test year, typically a company has a multi-year business plan.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the Board often looks at it because that helps put the test year in context.


But we're not suggesting that we're allowed to say, well you're going to save a lot of money in 2011; therefore, you should have lower rates today.


MR. KAISER:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What we're saying is, if, knowing what the long-term plan is, helps you understand what is happening in the test year, the Board should see that.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Do you have any objection to that?


MS. NEWLAND:  No, sir.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  So we're agreed.  Can we stop while we're ahead?  We've got agreement on the first three points.  You have agreed that the last three points are evidentiary matters we can deal with within the scope of the hearing.


Can we go home?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, may I --

MR. KAISER:  Stop while you're ahead.


MS. NEWLAND:  Is it his turn to be badgered, Mr. Chairman?


MR. KAISER:  We'll have to hear from Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will take two more minutes, if that is okay with you, Mr. Chairman.

MR. KAISER:  Sure.  It's your risk.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to deal with the evidentiary thing in two ways.


First, clearly, we all know it is the company's case to make.  It's not our case to make, and so if they have, as they do, an obligation to tell the Board what they expect to spend in the test year, it's a cost-of-service application, they have to tell the Board what the cost-of-service is, and it is their obligation to put the evidence forward to support that.


It is really not ours.


Ms. Newland suggested, in her submissions, that they don't have that evidence.  If that is actually true, they don't have evidence to support their cost-of-service, then we reserve the right to non-suit them.  We're not going to make a motion.  We're going to say, You haven't made your case.  You don't get new rates.


Now, in the real world we think it is unlikely, it is really hard to imagine that they have enough evidence, enough information today to support a nine-figure merger, but not enough to support rates.  I have a hard time understanding how that is possible, but if that turns out to be the case if they keep saying, No, no, we don't have that information, then we would have the right to non-suit them.


I guess --

MR. KAISER:  I've never had a non-suit in the history of the Board, but we certainly welcome it.  Whenever Mr. Vlahos or I are on the panel, one of us dissents so we welcome that suggestion.


MR. VLAHOS:  That's why I asked if there had to be a decision point today.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Those are our submissions, thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  I don't think we need to hear from you any further, Ms. Newland.


MS. NEWLAND:  Oh, sorry.  There was one thing I promised the intervenors I would clarify, and God knows I want to please the intervenors.


It will only take me one second.


I would like to make a small clarification about the relief that we sought in our original application.  On page 1 of 6 of Exhibit A1-2 -- Exhibit A1-2-1 - you don't have to turn it up - we state we're applying for rates for the period May 1st, 2009 to April 30th, 2010.  And that statement reflects our expectation that we'll be applying, in accordance with the third generation incentive mechanism, to adjust our cost-of-service rates for 2010.  But we acknowledge that until the Board issues that order, we would continue on our 2009 approved rates.


So we are not intending, by putting that April 30th, 2010 date in our application, to suggest there should be a sunset provision on our rates, and that will -- some intervenors took that from our evidence and we just wanted to clarify that.

With that clarification, I am done.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro, did you have anything to add?  You don't have to say anything to get costs.
Submissions by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't think I have ever been accused of speaking just for costs.

No.  I mean, what I would have done is gone through specific examples in the first three points of what types of interrogatories we'd be asking, just to show that we think these are, to some degree, in scope.  But I think generally we seem to be in agreement with the applicant.

So I will take your advice and quit while Mr. Shepherd is ahead.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Chair, could I just ask for my own understanding as to what...You're going to give me costs; right?

MR. KAISER:  Absolutely.

[Laughter]


MR. VLAHOS:  The first three items, as I understand it, there is agreement on some of the allocation issues, that they are properly testable; right?  So subject to the allocation issues, how much should -- you know, goes to Barrie, how much goes to PowerStream; right?  So everything else is agreed to.

With respect to issues 4 to 6, my understanding, Mr. Shepherd, is you have agreed that the onus is on the applicant to prove its case, and if they are willing or they do have the information, they will give it to you.  If they don't have the information, they will explain to you why they don't have the information.  But at the end of the day -- and I don't want to put you on the spot that you don't contemplate a motion, but you agree there may be some difficulties in some cases to provide some information, in which case you are free to argue or you will argue that they have not met the onus, the onus on them to prove their case?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't think I am saying quite that, or maybe I am just misunderstanding you, Mr. Vlahos.

What I am trying to say is I actually think they have enough evidence.  If I ask for something in an IR and I think they can produce it, then I may well make a motion, but if it is something that they legitimately can't provide -- whether they say they can't provide it or not is a whole different thing, but utilities often say, Oh, that is hard to provide.  We don't have that information.  We can't put it together.  But sometimes it is important enough to insist.

Aside from that, I think the bottom line is they will put forth whatever evidence they have, and the Board will decide whether it is sufficient to grant them the rates.

MR. VLAHOS:  They will put forward the best evidence they have, and you will decide whether you want to file a motion on some of the information provided or not provided?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Notwithstanding this afternoon, Mr. Vlahos, we don't actually like motions, so we're not likely to file one.

MR. VLAHOS:  I am glad I asked the question, because I took the understanding that the company, of course, will do its best to provide the information and you will be guided by that, and to the extent that you felt that they have not met the case, you would argue they have not met the case.


Now you are telling me that it is still open to you to file a motion if you feel the information can be provided with some effort.

MR. KAISER:  I think the issue comes down to this, Mr. Shepherd, and I think you both agree.  The company says, We can't produce it.  You examine the witness and understand and get responses as to why they can't produce it.

If in the end you don't believe the witness and say his answers make no sense, they actually can produce it, and they're simply refusing to produce it, you could presumably bring a motion on that basis; is that your position?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Certainly, Mr. Chairman, if -- I am not so much suggesting that they would be lying.  That's not the point.

Rather, what I am suggesting is sometimes an answer to an interrogatory is not a direct answer.  We'll ask for this, and they will answer this.

So we might well say, No, no, no, we asked for this.  This is what we want, and so please provide us with this additional information.  That we might do.

If they then say, Well, no, it is too hard to provide or -- et cetera, then we have to assess, Is it really too hard or not?  If it is, then what's the point?

MR. KAISER:  Well, we deal with those issues all the time.  There is nothing new about that controversy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly, exactly.

MR. VLAHOS:  And that's my problem.  When do we deal with it?  Is it in the proceeding proper or part of a motion?  The Chair spoke about asking the witness.  The witness to a motion proceeding or a witness to the main proceeding?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It depends on the nature of the interrogatory, Mr. Vlahos.  Obviously if we're asking for an explanation of something, then, you know, going on a motion is generally not a sensible way of pursuing that.  It is best to do it in cross-examination.

Conversely, if we are asking for a data set that we're going to need to do cross-examination, then typically you want to make a motion to get the data set so you can prepare for the hearing, and then it is very specific to the question.

MR. KAISER:  When are your interrogatories due?

MR. SHEPHERD:  We don't know yet.

MR. KAISER:  That hasn't been decided?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't think we have a date yet, Mr. Chairman.

MS. HELT:  Board Staff does have some tentative dates set out, those being that Board Staff would submit their interrogatories on or before Thursday, March the 26th, the applicant to file responses to the interrogatories by April 14th, and any intervenors that wish to file evidence -- or, I'm sorry, intervenors shall submit their interrogatories on or before Monday, March 30th.

MR. KAISER:  Why don't you -- given Mr. Vlahos's concern that we want to deal with any potential log jams with respect to failure to produce responses to interrogatories, why can't the intervenors and Board Staff file their interrogatories at the same time?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is generally of assistance to us, Mr. Chairman, to see the Board Staff interrogatories.

MR. KAISER:  You want to see the Board Staff's first?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It saves a lot of time.

MR. KAISER:  All right, fine.

MS. NEWLAND:  Can I just ask, what would be the response date from the applicant for IRs from intervenors?

MS. HELT:  The applicant shall file their responses to the interrogatories to both Board Staff and intervenor interrogatories by April 14th.

MR. KAISER:  When are we going to get around to hearing this case?  Has that been determined?

MS. HELT:  A tentative date that we have is the oral hearing to commence on Monday, June 1st.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What date did you have for intervenor evidence, if required?

MS. HELT:  Intervenors shall submit their interrogatories March 30th.  Intervenors to file evidence or to provide notice that they wish to file their evidence by Monday, April 20th, 2009.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. VLAHOS:  Can someone help me from the company?  Are we looking at an overall revenue requirement increase for 2009 or decrease?


MR. MACDONALD:  Increase.

MR. VLAHOS:  Increase?


MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  What is the increase you are looking for?

MR. MACDONALD:  Total bill?  It is pretty much flat for residential.  Commercial is going down slightly.  We have regulatory liabilities to refund, and that washes out the distribution rate increases.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So revenue requirement may increase, but the rate impact will be negative because of disposition of various accounts, the regulatory asset accounts?

MR. MACDONALD:  Residential customers will see a 0.1 percent increase in their delivery line and a 22 cent decrease actually on their total bill.  So they're very tiny differences once you include the --

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  If we don't have a hearing until June, then that brings the question of the rates, whether they should be interim or not.  Have we done anything about that?

MS. NEWLAND:  In our application we -- one of the prayers for relief is that the rates be made interim, and, of course, we will have to file for that.

When we filed October 3rd, we weren't sure where we were going to be.

MR. KAISER:  So you have to bring an application at some point in the near future with respect to that.

MS. NEWLAND:  In the near future, yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Why do you need an application?  You have the application that is --

MS. NEWLAND:  Well, we have actually said that in our application.

MR. VLAHOS:  So the Board can do it on its own motion?

MS. NEWLAND:  We would just need a ruling from the Board that that --

MR. KAISER:  Any opposition to the rates becoming interim?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, absolutely.  We are opposed to any retroactive rates in this case, because the delay is totally caused by the MAADs application.

MS. SPOEL:  If the rates are going down --

MR. SHEPHERD:  They're not, actually.  Distribution rates are going up by 8 percent.

MR. VLAHOS:  The revenue requirement is going up?

MR. KAISER:  I think we were just talking about residential rates, weren't we, Mr. MacDonald?  I was also addressing the total bill, which has to do with customers.

MR. KAISER:  Is there a rate increase for your client? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, 16 percent.


MR. KAISER:  16 percent?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Again, the distribution rate increase is in total bill --

MS. NEWLAND:  No.  No.  Not in total bill.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Distribution rate.  Which is a distribution rate application.

MS. NEWLAND:  But total bill for your clients will be going down.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The issue of retroactivity would only apply to the distribution rates anyway.  So there is a total -- there is an increase in distribution rates, which, unless the result of the hearing was a complete negation of the request to increase revenue requirement, there would be --

MR. KAISER:  So that brings us to this, Ms. Newland.  There is going to be a dispute on your application to have the rates declared interim.


I guess the parties can discuss with Board counsel when we'll hear those submissions.  You may agree that they can be in writing; you may not agree they will be in writing.  But can we leave it with you to discuss that between -- with your co-counsel and your friends so that we can get on with that?


MR. VLAHOS:  If I may, Mr. Chair.


Mr. Shepherd, what's the prejudice of declaring the rates interim?  It doesn't mean that the Board necessarily has to go back to the date of May 1st.


It just means it has the ability to, if it so chooses, but it doesn't mean that it will go back.  So what is lost here?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the purpose of declaring rates interim, as you have indicated, is to give the Board the option later to --

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- to deal with recovery of the revenue requirement in the subperiod.


If you have all of the evidence you need to determine whether that recovery is appropriate, then you don't need to declare the rates interim.  You can decide today it is not appropriate.


MS. SPOEL:  We don't have any evidence, Mr. Shepherd, today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In this case, it would be our submission that you do have the evidence.  You know the sole reason for the delay is the timing of the MAADs application which was entirely within the company's control.


They chose to do it this unusual way, and as a result, they have a delay.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, those are arguments that you can put forward in the main proceeding.  One of the issues always is:  What is the effective date of the rates? So I don't know why we are fighting about this now when we will have another day to fight about this.


It does provide the flexibility of the option.  You will argue -- you will have the time to argue that the Board should not go to May 1st, it should pick another date.



So that is always the case.  It is the Board's authority to do so on its own motion.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely.  And what we're suggesting, Mr. Vlahos, is that in this case, when you have all of the -- when all of the information you need to determine whether it's appropriate to allow them to recover a deficiency is in front of you, it is appropriate to make that decision now rather than later.


If we don't do it that way, then Ms. Newland can then argue later, Well, when you made a decision to give us interim rates, you had to have already determined that we get to recover the stub period, because if you didn't --

MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, how can she make that argument?  The law is quite clear on this.  Declaring a rate syndrome does not mean anything, it just provides options to the Board. 

MR. KAISER:  But then regardless whether the law is clear or not, if we made a ruling that rates were interim but there was nothing to be implied from that decision, as to when the rates would become effective, i.e., that that matter is still outstanding and would be subject to further argument or evidence in the main case, you would be happy with that?


MS. NEWLAND:  Just before he answers that question, if I may interject.  I would just point out to everyone that issue 9.2 on the list of issues is:  What is the appropriate effective date of the proposed rate?  So that is on the table.  It just goes to your point, Mr. Vlahos.


MR. KAISER:  In any event, I don't think we need to argue about it here.  Can you discuss this between the two of you?


MS. NEWLAND:  Well, I guess, Mr. Kaiser, maybe the decision point is:  Do we need to discuss this?  Or is it an issue and are we going to have to establish a procedural schedule to fight about this?  Or can we agree today not to fight about it?


MR. KAISER:  I think the Board's view is we don't.  As you pointed out, it is an issue.  It is on the issues list.  We are not going to decide any of the things on the issues list now.  We will decide all of them later in the case.


I suppose we could make the decision to have the rates interim at that time, too, I guess.  No, I guess we need to do that before obviously.  It would run past that day.

MS. NEWLAND:  That is on the issues list, and the intervenors want that issue about interim rates on the issues list, so we either decide it today or we have a proceeding to decide it.


MR. KAISER:  Or agree that we can deal with the --

MS. SPOEL:  I think you can be assured, Mr. Shepherd, that we won't allow Ms. Newland to argue that the matter is out of scope, if we do decide to make the rates interim, we won't then allow the applicant to take the position that because we made them interim, we foreclosed the opportunity to discuss whether or not they should have, they should be retroactive.  It is a completely separate matter.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Certainly, Ms. Spoel, as long as that is clear, I am at not risk.

MR. VLAHOS:  It is always clear, Mr. Shepherd.  If you read the Board's documentation or instrument that declares rate syndrome, that language is very specific, quite clear these days, so there would be no guessing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Vlahos.

MR. KAISER:  We can draft up an order and you can review the order, both of you.

MS. NEWLAND:  That would be acceptable to us, sir.


MR. KAISER:  If you have problems with the terms of the order, you can come back.  Can we leave it on that basis?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I guess we will have to obviously give notice to other parties who weren't aware this was coming up today, but, yes.

MR. KAISER:  I guess all of the intervenors are not here.  Mr. Warren is not here.  Perhaps some other --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Energy Probe.


MS. HELT:  Mr. Chair, if I can just indicate that it's the intention of Board Staff, with the Panel's approval, to issue a procedural order tomorrow setting out the dates or the tentative proposed dates that we discuss today for the filing of interrogatories and responses to those interrogatories.


MR. KAISER:  Why don't you attach to that a proposed draft order along the lines Mr. Vlahos has talked about and we could get submissions from all of the parties.


MS. HELT:  Certainly.


MR. KAISER:  If anyone objects, we can deal with it.


MS. HELT:  All right.  I will do that.


MS. NEWLAND:  We had one question about the dates that you were suggesting.


It looks as if our interrogatory responses both to the Board and to -- Board Staff and intervenors will be completed mid-April, and yet we don't have a hearing date until June 1st.


We just wondered, is that a result of scheduling difficulties?


MR. THIESSEN:  No, that accounts for our settlement conference.  There are also dates set for a settlement conference and an ADR, and usually that takes two to three weeks.


MS. NEWLAND:  All right.


MR. THIESSEN:  I would also mention usually if it is the intention of intervenors to file evidence, then that oral hearing date would be pushed further along because there is a period of 20 to 30 days that's involved when intervenors file evidence and interrogatories are asked of that evidence, et cetera.


MR. KAISER:  So this procedural order that you are going to send out tomorrow, you are going to circulate a draft first?  So that parties can -- if they have any questions regarding these dates?  What's the process?


MS. HELT:  Generally, it would be with the approval of the Panel, it would just be issued.


The parties now are aware of the dates and if they have any issues with them, perhaps we can discuss that after this matter concludes.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  So I will leave it on that basis counsel can talk to Board counsel with respect to any of the dates so we can get that procedural order out.  If we accomplish something today, we will all get paid.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, at least Mr. Buonaguro will.


MR. KAISER:  Anything else?


Anything else?


MS. HELT:  No.


MR. KAISER:  No.  All right.  Thank you.


MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 10:45 a.m.
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